#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 19-1278

\_\_\_\_\_

#### KRYSTAL WAGNER,

Individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Shane Jensen,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

#### STATE OF IOWA and WILLIAM L. SPECE

a/k/a BILL L. SPECE,

Defendants-Appellees.

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF LAW from the HONORABLE C.J. WILLIAMS UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT for the NORTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA Case No. 19-CV-3007-CJW-KEM

#### PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

DAVE O'BRIEN LAW

TIMMER & JUDKINS, P.L.L.C.

/s/ David A. O'Brien

David A. O'Brien AT0005870

1500 Center Street NE Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52402

Telephone: (319) 861-3001

Fax: (319) 861-3007

Email: dave@daveobrienlaw.com

/s/ Nathan Borland

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

## I. THE IOWA TORT CLAIMS ACT SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED TO CONSTITUTIONAL TORT CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE STATE

#### Cases

Adickes v. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144 (1970)

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 929 N.W.2d 691 (Iowa 2019) ("Baldwin III")

*City of Waukee v. City Dev. Bd.*, 590 N.W.2d 712 (Iowa 1999)

Comegys v. Vasse, 26 U.S. 193 (1828)

Doe v. Koenigs, 826 N.W.2d 516, 2012 WL 6194351 (Iowa App. 2012) (unpublished)

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Hansen v. Henderson, 56 N.W.2d 59 (1952)

Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil Co., 606 N.W.2d 376 (Iowa 2000)

Owen v. Independence, 445 U.S. 622 (1980)

State v. Osmundson, 546 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 1996)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 669.14(2)

Iowa Code § 669.14(4)

Iowa Code § 669.14(6)

Iowa Code § 669.2(3)

Iowa Code § 670.1(4)

Iowa Code §§ 689.1-13 (1977)

Iowa Code Ch. 669 ("Iowa Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 670 ("Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 684A

#### Other Authorities

1979 *Iowa Op. Atty. Gen.* 314 (Iowa A.G.), WL 21035 3 *Black. Com.* 123

#### **Constitutional Provisions**

Iowa Const. art. I, § 1

Iowa Const. art. I, § 16

Iowa Const. art. I, § 17

Iowa Const. art. I, § 19

Iowa Const. art. I, § 25

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6

Iowa Const. art. I, § 8

Iowa Const. art. III

Iowa Const. art. III, § 10

Iowa Const. art. III, § 13

Iowa Const. art. III, § 4

Iowa Const. art. IV

Iowa Const. art. IV, § 6

Iowa Const. art. XI

Iowa Const. art. XII

Iowa Const. art. XII, § 1

# II. THE IOWA TORT CLAIMS ACT REMEDIES FOR EXCESSIVE FORCE BY A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER ARE INADEQUATE BASED ON THE UNAVAILABILITY OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES

#### Cases

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 929 N.W.2d 691 (Iowa 2019) ("Baldwin III")

Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14 (1980)

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Huckle v. Money, (1763) 95 Eng. Rep. 768 (C.P.)

Speed v. Beurle, 251 N.W.2d 217 (Iowa 1977)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

Wilkes v. Wood, (1763) 98 Eng. Rep. 489 (C.P.)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 669.4(2)

Iowa Code Ch. 669 ("Iowa Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 670 ("Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 684A

#### **Other Authorities**

Alfred S. Regnery, The Intercollegiate Studies Institute, *The Pillars of Modern American Conservatism* (April 3, 2018)

James McClellan, The Constitution from a Conservative Perspective (1988)

# III. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS UNDER THE IOWA CONSTITUTION SHOULD NOT BE SUBJECT TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE EXHAUSTION REQUIREMENT OF THE IOWA TORT CLAIMS ACT

#### Cases

Baldwin v. City of Estherville, 915 N.W.2d 259 ("Baldwin II")

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 1A.1

Iowa Code Ch. 669 ("Iowa Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 670 ("Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 684A

## IV. PLAINTIFF SHOULD NOT BE REQUIRED TO BRING IOWA CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS EXCLUSIVELY IN IOWA DISTRICT COURT

#### Cases

Angela R. ex rel. Hesselbein v. Clinton, 999 F.2d 320 (8th Cir. 1993)

Barnes v. Missouri, 960 F.2d 63 (8th Cir. 1992)

Egerdahl v. Hibbing Community College, 72 F.3d 615 (8th Cir. 1995)

Florida Dep't of Health and Rehabilitative Servs. v. Florida Nursing Home Ass'n, 450 U.S. 147 (1981)

Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2017)

Jacobsen v. DOT, 450 F.3d 778 (8th Cir. 2006)

*Kan. Pub. Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Reimer & Koger Assocs., Inc.*, 77 F.3d 1063 (8th Cir. 1996)

*Kellner v. University of Northern Iowa*, 2014 WL 855831 (N.D. Iowa Mar. 5, 2014)

Myers v. Richland Cnty., 429 F.3d 740 (8th Cir. 2005)

Port Auth. Trans-Hudson Corp. v. Feeney, 495 U.S. 299 (1990)

Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44 (1996)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

#### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 669.4

Iowa Code Ch. 669 ("Iowa Tort Claims Act")

Iowa Code Ch. 670 ("Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act") Iowa Code Ch. 684A

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case. The questions certified by U.S. District Judge Williams concerning this claim for damages invoking article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution raise substantial issues of first impression. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Nature of the Case**

This appeal is from certified questions of law from the Honorable C.J. Williams, United States District Court for the Northern District of Iowa, in case No. 19-CV-3007-CJW-KEM, Krystal Wagner, Individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Shane Jensen, Plaintiff, versus the State of Iowa and William L. Spece a/k/a Bill L. Spece, Defendants.

#### **Course of the Proceedings**

Shane Jensen was shot and killed by Bill Spece, a DNR officer using a rifle, on November 11, 2017. (App. 1, 4-5, Complaint ¶¶ 3, 29). Wagner, individually, for loss of consortium, and as Administrator of the Estate of Shane Jensen, for wrongful death, filed a lawsuit against the Defendants on February 13, 2019. (App. 1-14, Complaint). On April 23, 2019, the Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss which was resisted by the Plaintiffs. The U.S. District Court issued its Memorandum Opinion and Order granting

the motion in part, denying it in part and certifying questions of law to the Iowa Supreme Court on July 29, 2019. (App. 15-46, Opinion and Order). The Certified Questions of Law were filed with the Iowa Supreme Court on August 1, 2019. (App. 43-45, Certified Questions of Law). The Certified Questions of Law were docketed with the Iowa Supreme Court on August 30, 2019.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following statement of facts are taken from Wagner's Complaint, which was adopted by the U.S. District Court as "the statement of facts for purposes of the certified questions." (App. 44, Opinion and Order, p. 30).

Jensen was born on January 23, 1998, and was 19 years old at the time he was shot and killed by Defendant Spece on or about November 11, 2017. (App. 2, Complaint ¶ 8). Jensen suffered from numerous mental health issues including Asperger's, now known as Autism Spectrum Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder. (App. 2, Complaint ¶ 9). Jensen was also suffering from situational depression after breaking up with his girlfriend on or about November 9, 2017. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 11). Jensen was well known to law enforcement officers in Humboldt, Dakota City and Humboldt County, Iowa. Jensen was used by local law enforcement officers to make controlled purchases of drugs, and alcohol and cigarettes to minors, both wired and unwired. (App. 2, Complaint ¶ 10).

A warrant was issued for Jensen's arrest on or about Thursday, November 9, 2017, alleging he destroyed some of his ex-girlfriend's property. (App. 3, Complaint ¶¶ 11-12). Jensen found out about the warrant, but did not want to turn himself in until Sunday evening so he could see a judge and

gain bail on Monday morning. Being in jail was difficult for Jensen because of his mental health conditions. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 13). On Friday, November 10, 2017, Jensen was staying with a relative in Pocahontas, Iowa, and took possession of a 9mm Smith and Wesson handgun. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 14).

Jensen was understood to be suicidal. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 15). Jensen's mother, Krystal Wagner, told Humboldt County Deputy Michael Vinsand that, given Jensen's mental state, she was concerned that if law enforcement approaches Jensen the situation may not end well. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 16). Wagner also told Vinsand that Jensen had an infatuation with the movie "Straight out of Compton" and that she feared a suicide by cop situation. *Id.* Vinsand assured her that "would not happen" and Wagner replied that "at the end of the day I want everyone to be safe." *Id.* 

On Saturday, November 11, 2017, Jensen went to a friend's home in Dakota City, Iowa, and eventually ended up hiding under the deck of that home. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 17). Humboldt Police Officer Tom Nielson found Jensen and ordered him to come out from under the deck. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 18). As Jensen emerged, according to Nielson, he pointed a gun at Nielson, but Nielson, aware of Jensen's condition, did not shoot. Rather than fire at Jensen, Nielson retreated to cover. (App. 3, Complaint ¶ 19). Nielson then

observed Jensen backing away from the home and not pointing the gun in his direction. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 20). Nielson ordered Jensen to submit and no reasonable person in Jensen's position would have understood that they were free to leave without being taken into custody. *Id.* Humboldt County Deputy Sheriffs Kenneth Vorland, Matt Steil and Tim Fisher were also on the scene, understood Jensen's condition, knew that time and patience were their ally and never fired their weapons. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 21).

Spece, a conservation officer with the DNR, was in Humboldt County on conservation-related business, was asked to assist or volunteered to assist with the search for Jensen and was also made aware of Jensen's condition. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 22). Spece failed to understand, comprehend and/or execute basic strategies for the de-escalation of situations involving armed and suicidal suspects. *Id*.

Jensen stood in an open area with his gun pointed to his own head. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 23). While standing in the open area surrounded by five, armed law enforcement officers, Jensen never pointed the gun he was holding in the direction of any of the officers. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 24). At one point, Jensen fired a single shot into the air straight above his head. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 25). Jensen was yelling words to the effect that the officers were going to have to kill him. (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 26).

Defendant Spece claimed that Jensen then "brought his hands down and circled around to face Spece and Fisher." (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 27). Defendant Spece further stated, "that's when [he] saw the kid's wrist and muscles flex, so [he] shot him." (App. 4, Complaint ¶ 28). Spece also described the justification for the shooting as "Jensen then turned around again and eventually pointed the gun in the direction of Spece and Fisher. . . when Jensen lowered the weapon Spece fired one round from his issued rifle, hitting Jensen in the chest and killing him." (App. 4-5, Complaint ¶ 29). Defendant Spece claimed the justifications set out above justified his use of deadly force. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 30).

Spece "seized" Jensen by inflicting deadly force upon him. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 31). Spece and the other officers present made it clear that Jensen was not free to leave and would be seized by being placed into handcuffs and taken to jail. *Id.* A video of the shooting shows that Spece was not truthful about claiming Jensen pointed his gun at him and/or Fisher. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 32). Therefore, Defendant Spece was not justified in his use of deadly force in shooting and killing Jensen. *Id.* 

None of the four other armed law enforcement officers in the immediate vicinity at the time fired their weapons at Jensen confirming that Jensen was not pointing his gun at them or any other law enforcement officer at the time

Defendant Spece shot and killed him. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 33). Certainly, if any of the four other law enforcement officers armed and present perceived Jensen as a threat to themselves, or anyone else, they would not have hesitated to meet that threat by using their service weapons to neutralize Jensen. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 34).

Defendant Spece, a DNR officer, did not have sufficient training, experience, equipment and or expertise in dealing with suicidal individuals. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 35). Defendant Spece, a DNR officer, failed to appropriately heed the warning he was given that Jensen was suicidal and may be seeking to commit suicide by cop. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 36). Defendant Spece failed to follow protocol by not setting up a perimeter in order to contain Jensen which would have allowed Spece to take cover at a safe distance from Jensen. (App. 5, Complaint ¶ 37). Defendant Spece, who was armed with a rifle, failed to follow protocol by not setting up further from Jensen and observing him using optics and/or by not waiting for other law enforcement officers present more familiar with the situation to act. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 38).

Defendant Spece failed to follow protocol by not preparing and using chemical or other less than lethal force weapons in order to neutralize Jensen, or waiting for other law enforcement officers present to use those tools to handle the situation without using deadly force. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 39). Defendant Spece failed to follow protocol by screaming directions at Jensen thereby escalating the encounter rather than trying to calmly negotiate with Jensen in order to de-escalate the situation. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 40). Defendant Spece failed to follow protocol by not recognizing that time was an ally and there was no need to force the situation to a very tragic end. (App. 6, Complaint ¶41). Defendant Spece failed to follow protocol by shooting and killing Jensen even though Jensen did not point his gun at Spece or anyone else. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 42). Defendant Spece did not act as an objectively reasonable officer would have acted under the circumstances given that he was the only one of the five, armed law enforcement officer present who believed Jensen's conduct warranted the use of deadly force. (App. 6, Complaint  $\P$  43).

Defendant Spece has a history of using excessive force particularly by drawing his service weapon to respond to a threat that did not justify the use of deadly force. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 44). Upon information and belief Defendant Spece was terminated for cause from the one law enforcement job he held prior to being hired by Defendant Iowa as a DNR officer. (App. 6, Complaint ¶ 45). Defendant Iowa failed to properly check Spece's background before hiring him; failed to properly train Spece; failed to

properly monitor and oversee Spece's activities as a law enforcement officer; and/or failed to instruct Spece to avoid getting into situations in which he was neither appropriately trained nor equipped by reason of experience or with the tactical equipment necessary to handle suicidal individuals. (App. 6-7, Complaint ¶ 46).

All the alleged actions of the Defendants were conducted under color of state law. (App. 7, Complaint ¶ 47).

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE IOWA TORT CLAIMS ACT SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED TO CONSTITUTIONAL TORT CAUSES OF ACTION AGAINST THE STATE

**Error Preservation.** This matter is before the Court pursuant to questions of law certified by United States District Judge C.J. Williams of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Iowa, in accordance with the provisions of Iowa Code Chapter 684A.

**Standard of Review.** The standard of review for constitutional claims, such as those at issue in this case, is de novo. *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 874 (Iowa 2009) (summary judgment); *Godfrey v. State*, 898 N.W.2d 844, 847 (Iowa 2017) ("*Godfrey II*") (motion to dismiss).

Article I of the Iowa Constitution starts with section 1, stating "[a]ll men are, by nature, free and equal, and have certain inalienable rights — among which are those of enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing and protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety and happiness." Article I of the Iowa Constitution ends with section 25, stating "[t]his enumeration of rights shall not be construed to impair or deny others, retained by the people." In between those bookend statements of absolute, unassailable and incontrovertible rights of citizens protected by the Iowa Constitution is the particular right at issue in this case, "[t]he right of the

people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable seizures and searches shall not be violated." Iowa Const. art. I, § 8. It is inconceivable to Wagner that those clear statements of individual rights could somehow be misinterpreted to allow a state government agent show to up in her hometown, use her son for target practice with his rifle and escape liability for violating her son's rights under the Iowa Constitution.

#### A. Enforcement of The Civil Rights Established by Article I of the Iowa Constitution Does Not Require Legislative Enactment.

The whole question presented in *Godfrey II* involved whether Article I, §§ 6 and 9 were self-executing, *i.e.* enforceable without enacting legislation. The concurring majority in *Godfrey II* answered that question in the affirmative. *Godfrey II*, 898 N.W.2d at 880 (C.J. Cady, concurring). A three-person minority of the court answered that question negatively based upon a misreading of Article XII, § 1, of the Iowa Constitution. *Id.* at 882 (Mansfield, dissent). It is inconceivable to Wagner that the framers of the Iowa Constitution spent 39 days from January 19, 1857 through March 5, 1857, 1 drafting the Iowa Constitution, made the preeminent and first section of the Constitution the protection of Iowans' civil rights, but intended all those rights

<sup>1</sup> https://www.statelibraryofiowa.org/services/collections/law-library/iaconst.

to be unenforceable window dressing unless and until the legislature said differently.

It is Wagner's contention that the framers of the Iowa Constitution absolutely anticipated "that someone could simply walk into court with a constitutional provision in hand and file a lawsuit to recover money, including punitive damages," for the violation of that constitutional provision by a state agent. Id. at 882. Certainly, the framers of the Iowa Constitution knew that "there is no such thing as right, without legal remedy." Comegys v. Vasse, 26 U.S. 193, 210 (1828) (citing 3 Black. Com. 123). "A damages remedy against the offending party is a vital component of any scheme for vindicating cherished constitutional guarantees." Owen v. Independence, 445 U.S. 622, 651 (1980). As later explained in U.S. Supreme Court decisions, "[h]ow 'uniquely amiss' it would be, therefore, if the government itself – 'the social organ to which all in our society look for the promotion of liberty, justice, fair and equal treatment, and the setting of worthy norms and goals for social conduct' -- were permitted to disavow liability for the injury it has begotten." Owen, 445 U.S. at 651, (citing, Adickes v. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 190 (1970)).

The framers of the Iowa Constitution did not draft "Article XII - Schedule," the last Article of the Iowa Constitution, even after Article XI titled

"Miscellaneous," and intend that section on "scheduling" to render the prior eleven articles useless and unenforceable, unless and until the legislature passed enacting legislation. If that is the correct interpretation of Article XII, § 1, then there could never have been a first legislature under the Iowa Constitution because there was no prior legislature to enact Article III. Further, there could never have been a first Governor under the Iowa Constitution, Article IV, because there was no prior Governor to sign into law any enacting legislation. That absurd result is avoided because Articles III and IV of the Iowa Constitution, like Article I, are self-executing.

The Court should embrace, not retract, its recent discussion of this argument in *Godfrey II*:

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