IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Case No. 19–1278

KRYSTAL WAGNER,
Individually, and as Administrator of the Estate of Shane Jensen,

Plaintiff–Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA and WILLIAM L. SPECE, a/k/a BILL L. SPECE,

Defendants–Appellees.

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA
THE HONORABLE C.J. WILLIAMS, JUDGE

DEFENDANTS–APPELLEES’ FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

JEFFREY S. THOMPSON
Solicitor General

JEFFREY C. PETERZALEK
TESSA M. REGISTER
Assistant Attorneys General
Iowa Department of Justice
1305 East Walnut Street, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Phone: (515) 281-4213
Fax: (515) 281-4209

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

Since 1964, this Court has repeatedly affirmed that it is the legislature—not the courts—that decides whether the state is susceptible to tort liability and under what terms. *See, e.g., Smith v. Iowa State Univ. of Sci. & Tech.*, 851 N.W.2d 1, 20 (Iowa 2014); *Rivera v. Woodward Res. Ctr.*, 830 N.W.2d 724, 727 (Iowa 2013); *Hook*, 839 N.W.2d at 439; *McGill v. Fish*, 790 N.W.2d 113, 117 (Iowa 2010); *Trobaugh v. Sondag*, 668 N.W.2d 577, 584 (Iowa 2003); *Dickerson v. Mertz*, 547 N.W.2d 208, 213 (Iowa 1996); *Drahaus v. State*, 584 N.W.2d 270, 272 (Iowa 1998); *Swanger v. State*, 445 N.W.2d 344, 346 (Iowa 1989); *Cook v. State*, 431 N.W.2d 800, 802 (Iowa 1988); *Hyde v. Buckalew*, 393 N.W.2d 800, 802 (Iowa 1986); *Hansen*, 298 N.W.2d at 265; *Lloyd v. State*, 251 N.W.2d 551, 555 (Iowa 1977); *Graham v. Worthington*,

146 N.W.2d 626, 635 (Iowa 1966). Indeed, the plain language of the ITCA instructs that state sovereign immunity is waived only “to the extent provided in [chapter 669].” Iowa Code § 669.4(3).

This Court has already considered the interplay between the ITCA and constitutional torts, and has concluded that sovereign immunity barred certain federal constitutional tort claims against the state. In *Greene*, this Court considered whether a § 1983 action could lie against the state in state court, in light of the inapplicability of the Eleventh Amendment. *Greene v. Friend of Court of Polk Cty.*, 406 N.W.2d 433, 435–36 (Iowa 1987). The Court, relying on traditional concepts of sovereign immunity, found that the action was in fact barred absent a waiver by the state, but that the Iowa Tort Claims Act could constitute a limited waiver of immunity for § 1983 claims. *Id.* However, in that case, the plaintiff’s § 1983 claim alleging he was jailed in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment was the “functional equivalent” of false imprisonment, and the ITCA preserved the state’s sovereign immunity against such claims. *Id.* at 436. Accordingly, the federal constitutional tort action was barred by the ITCA. *Id.*

“Constitutional torts are torts.” *Baldwin II*, 915 N.W.2d at 281. “The doctrine of sovereign immunity dictates that a tort claim against the state or an employee acting within the scope of his office or employment with the state

must be brought, if at all, pursuant to chapter 669.” *Dickerson*, 547 N.W.2d at 213. As established in *Greene*, that these torts are of constitutional station does not justify invading the legislature’s exclusive jurisdiction to determine the scope of the state’s sovereign immunity, nor does it permit this court to simply bypass decades of precedent. It is squarely within the province of the legislature to determine when and under what terms the state may be called upon to answer for the torts of its officers, regardless of how “outmoded, harsh, [or] not in keeping with the modern trend of the law” some may find that result. *Boyer*, 127 N.W.2d at 607.

Like *Bivens*, *Godfrey II* did not address sovereign immunity or the waiver thereof. However, *Bivens* did not seek to impose damages against the federal government, and thus its omission was no bar to the continuation of the doctrine. *Godfrey II*, however, permits monetary damages against the state and state officials in their official capacities if there is no other adequate remedy at law. *See* 898 N.W.2d at 881 (Cady, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). Thus, unlike in *Bivens*, continuation of the doctrine requires the court to reconcile the *Godfrey II* pronouncement with decades of caselaw instructing that the state cannot be sued for monetary damages unless the legislature waives sovereign immunity.

The ITCA provides a solution. By finding that *Godfrey*-type claims are subject to the ITCA, the constitutional tort action created by *Godfrey II* remains available to plaintiffs and the legislature’s authority to determine the nature and terms of state sovereign immunity is preserved.

B. The Plain Language of the ITCA Encompasses Iowa Constitutional Tort Claims.

Beyond resolving the sovereign immunity dilemma, applying the ITCA to constitutional tort actions is consistent with the plain language of the statute. When interpreting a statute, this Court must “first consider the plain meaning of its language.” *Rilea v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp.*, 919 N.W.2d 380, 389 (Iowa 2018) (quoting *State v. Nall*, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017)). Statutes must be read as a whole, “rather than just looking at words and phrases in isolation.” *Id.* (quoting *Iowa Ins. Inst. v. Core Grp. Of Iowa Ass’n for Justice*, 867 N.W.2d 58, 72 (Iowa 2015)).

The state is liable in Iowa district court for “claims to the same claimants, in the same manner, and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances,” unless otherwise provided in chapter 669. Iowa Code § 669.4(2). A “claim” is defined as:

a. Any claim against the state of Iowa for money only, on account of damage to or loss of property or on account of personal injury or death, caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the state while acting within the scope of the employee’s office or employment, under circumstances where

the state, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant for such damage, loss, injury, or death.

b. Any claim against an employee of the state for money only, on account of damage to or loss of property or on account of personal injury or death, caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the state while acting within the scope of the employee's office or employment.

Id. § 669.2(3). An employee's act or omission that rises to the level of a constitutional deprivation would necessarily be wrongful, and thus readily fall within the definition of a "claim." *See also Godfrey II*, 898 N.W.2d at 897 (Mansfield, J., dissenting) ("Godfrey's constitutional damage claims are still 'claims' against State officials within the meaning of Iowa Code chapter 669."); *McCabe v. Macaulay*, 551 F.Supp.2d 771, (N.D. Iowa 2007) (predicting Iowa would recognize a constitutional tort claim and finding that such actions would be "claims" under the ITCA).

Additionally, the ITCA expressly contemplates claims alleging constitutional violations. The ITCA requires the state to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless any employee "against any claim as defined in section 669.2, subsection 3, paragraph 'b', including claims arising under the Constitution, statutes, or rules of the United States or of any state." Iowa Code § 669.21(1). A *Godfrey*-type claim is a claim arising under the Iowa Constitution, which is a claim arising under the constitution of any state. *Id.*

In *Baldwin V*, this Court found that the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act (“IMTCA”) applied to constitutional torts brought against municipalities. 929 N.W.2d at 697. Because the definition of “tort” included “denial or impairment of any right under any constitutional provision,” the IMTCA is the exclusive avenue for redress for municipal constitutional torts. *Id.* While the legislature used different phrasing in each Act, the different wording does not foreclose the same conclusion with respect to the ITCA.

“The term ‘claim’ in the ITCA is *broadly defined* to include any damages ‘caused by the negligent or wrongful act or omission of any employee of the state.’” *Madden v. City of Iowa City*, 848 N.W.2d 40, 53 (Iowa 2014) (emphasis added). The broad definition of “claim” is alone sufficient to find that Iowa constitutional torts fall within the ITCA. Indeed, the expansive definition likely obviated the need to clarify that constitutional deprivations were included, as unconstitutional acts or omissions are plainly “wrongful.” Iowa Code § 669.2(3).

Moreover, any ambiguity as to whether a constitutional violation is a “wrongful act or omission” is resolved further in Chapter 669. The legislature specifically instructed that employees shall be indemnified and held harmless against “any claim as defined in section [669.2(3)(b)], *including claims* arising under the Constitution, statutes, or rules of . . . any state.” *Id.*

§ 669.21(1) (emphasis added). Thus, considering chapter 669 as a whole, the legislature expressly contemplated constitutional tort actions falling within the terms of the ITCA.

Contrary to Wagner’s assertions, this reading of the ITCA would not relegate the Iowa Constitution to something less than the supreme law of the land. “The right to recover damages for a constitutional violation does not need to be congruent with the constitutional violation itself.” *Baldwin II*, 915 N.W.2d at 278. Instead, this scheme recognizes that when tort liability, rather than the state’s ability to convict, is at issue, the reasonableness of the officer’s conduct is the gravamen of the action. And applying traditional tort principles to constitutional torts “does not imply a redefinition of the rights themselves nor any limitation of their traditional application.” John C. Jeffries, Jr., *Compensation for Constitutional Torts: Reflections on the Significance of Fault*, 88 Mich. L. Rev. 82, 100 (1989).

Several other states that have recognized constitutional torts similarly found that tort claims against the state and state employees must be brought pursuant to state tort claims acts. *See, e.g., Newell v. City of Elgin*, 340 N.E.2d 344, 347–48 (Ill. 1976); *Cooper v. Rodriguez*, 118 A.3d 829, 844–45 (Md. 2015); *Lee v. Cline*, 863 A.2d 297, 303–10 (Md. 2004); *City of Jackson v.*

Sutton, 797 So.2d 977, 980–81 (Miss. 2001); *Brown v. State*, 674 N.E.2d 1129, 1138–39 (N.Y. 1996).

Finally, although the ITCA was initially modeled after the Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA), *see Minor v. State*, 819 N.W.2d 383, 406 (Iowa 2012), such modeling does not preclude a finding that the ITCA applies to Iowa constitutional tort claims. In *Carlson v. Green*, the United States Supreme Court held that the 1974 amendments to the FTCA, which created a cause of action against the United States for certain intentional torts committed by federal officers, did not preempt a *Bivens* action under the Constitution. 446 U.S. 14, 20–23 (1980). The Court relied on several considerations.

First, the legislative history of the amendments demonstrated that Congress intended the new cause of action to be an additional, rather than replacement, cause of action to *Bivens*. *Id.* at 20. Second, “[b]ecause the *Bivens* remedy is recoverable against individuals, it is a more effective deterrent than the FTCA remedy against the United States.” *Id.* at 21. Third, punitive damages may be awarded against an individual state officer under § 1983, and “the ‘constitutional design’ would be stood on its head if federal officers did not face at least the same liability as state officials guilty of the same constitutional transgression.” *Id.* (quoting *Butz*, 438 U.S. at 504). Fourth, the FTCA did not allow for a jury trial. *Id.* at 22. Finally, FTCA

liability is tied to state liability, and “[t]he question whether respondent’s action for violations by federal officials of federal constitutional rights should [not] be left to the vagaries of the laws of the several States.” *Id.* at 23.

None of these reasons are applicable to the ITCA. First, there is no legislative history demonstrating that the legislature intended for constitutional torts to exist outside the confines of the ITCA. Second, *Godfrey* remedies, unlike *Bivens* remedies, are not recoverable against individuals. Third, there is no liability imbalance that would render applying the ITCA inappropriate—in fact, given the applicability of the IMTCA, any failure to apply the ITCA would surely result in a liability imbalance favoring municipalities. Fourth, although prior versions of the ITCA did not allow for a jury trial, the express bar on jury trials has since been removed. *Compare* Iowa Code § 669.4(1) (2019) *with* Iowa Code § 25A.4 (1975). Finally, liability under the ITCA is not tied to any other federal or state regime, but rather determined by the scope of liability that would be assigned to a private litigant. Iowa Code § 669.4(2). Thus, although the ITCA was initially drafted in the image of the FTCA, the reasoning in *Carlson* is entirely inapplicable to the ITCA and *Godfrey*-type actions, and is therefore no bar to finding that the ITCA governs constitutional torts.

In sum, because the definition of “claim” encompasses unconstitutional acts or omissions, and the indemnification provision expressly contemplates claims arising from constitutional violations, this Court should find that the ITCA applies to *Godfrey*-type claims and answer the first certified question in the affirmative.

C. The ITCA is a Waiver of Sovereign Immunity, Subject to the Conditions and Terms Established Therein, and the Court May Not Cherry-Pick Which Conditions of Waiver Apply to Constitutional Torts.

As discussed above, principles of both sovereign immunity and statutory construction require that constitutional tort claims be brought pursuant to the terms of the ITCA. Thus, the applicability of the ITCA is not resolved as a matter of policy, but rather as a matter of law.

The final three certified questions ask whether punitive damages should nevertheless be available to plaintiffs, whether the administrative exhaustion requirement should apply, and whether Iowa district courts should have exclusive jurisdiction. Yet, if the court answers the first question in the affirmative, which it must, then the answers to the remaining three questions are easily resolved: the terms of the ITCA apply. *See Baldwin V*, 929 N.W.2d at 701 (finding the IMTCA governed constitutional tort actions against municipalities and applying the Act’s terms accordingly).

Constitutional torts are torts, and it is for the legislature, not the courts, to dictate the terms by which a state or state employee may be amenable to tort liability for official actions. *Boyer*, 127 N.W.2d at 609; *Hansen*, 298 N.W.2d at 265. For instance, “[a]s a condition to waiving its immunity, the legislature established an administrative procedure for litigants to follow prior to commencing an action in the district court.” *McGill*, 790 N.W.2d at 117 (emphasis added). While the administrative procedure has been amended over time, “the Act has always required a claim to be filed with an agency or department of the state before the lawsuit could be filed in district court.” *Id.* This Court has “interpreted these provisions to mean that the state appeal board has exclusive jurisdiction over all tort claims against the state.” *Minor*, 819 N.W.2d at 405. Therefore, this Court may not simply override a condition of the state’s waiver of sovereign immunity and substitute a process that it determines to be a better public policy. If constitutional torts fall within the ITCA, then constitutional tort plaintiffs must abide by the administrative process like any other tort plaintiff.

Additionally, as another condition of its waiver of sovereign immunity, the legislature instructed that the state shall be amenable to suit exclusively in state courts. Iowa Code § 669.4(1). Federal courts therefore lack subject matter jurisdiction over Iowa constitutional tort claims. Indeed, federal

district courts consistently recognize this jurisdictional defect. *See, e.g., Barrett v. Schwab*, No. 6:18-cv-2090, 2019 WL 4888575 at *6 (N.D. Iowa Oct. 3, 2019) (dismissing tort claims brought against the State of Iowa in federal court, finding “the ITCA waives Iowa’s sovereign immunity only as it applies to suit in its own state courts”).

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